STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Georgetown County
Larry B. Hyman, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

May 03 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JODY L. WARD,

PETITIONER

Appellate Case 2021-000702

FINAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

TRISTAN M. SHAFFER
P.O. Box 1027
Chapin, SC 29036
(803) 626-0188
tristan@shafferlawsc.com

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Does the “reasonable diligence” standard of Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP, require criminal defendants and their attorneys to do genealogical research on potential jurors to ensure they are not related to witnesses, and if not, did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the summary dismissal of Petitioner’s Motion for a New Trial based on after discovered evidence?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was indicted by the Georgetown County Grand Jury for two counts of Murder arising from the shooting deaths of Wilford Brown and Elton Rutledge. On March 15, 2004, Petitioner was called to trial before the Honorable Paula Thomas and a jury. ROA 2. Petitioner was represented by Margaret Ann Kneece and J. Wesley Locklair. ROA 2. The State was represented by J. Gregory Hembree and Robert Bryan. ROA 2.

At the conclusion of the trial, Petitioner was found guilty of both counts of murder. ROA 150. Petitioner was sentenced life imprisonment. ROA 159.

Petitioner appealed his conviction. For the Appeal, Petitioner was represented by Robert M. Dudek. Appellate counsel filed an *Anders*¹ brief. ROA 160-170. Petitioner filed a *pro se Anders* response on September 13, 2005. ROA 234-298. On January 26, 2007, this Court dismissed the direct appeal. ROA 425.

On April 14, 2007, Petitioner filed a *pro se* Petition for Writ of Certiorari with the South Carolina Supreme Court. ROA 299-313. Petitioner then moved to withdraw the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. ROA 314. The Petition for Writ of Certiorari was dismissed on July 5, 2007. ROA 315. Remittitur was sent on July 6, 2007. ROA 317.

On July 11, 2007, Petitioner filed an Application for Post-Conviction Relief ROA 171-177. The State filed its return on October 5, 2007. ROA 183-185. An evidentiary hearing was convened on May 1, 2008 before the Honorable Steven John. ROA 186. At the hearing, Petitioner was represented by Bobby Frederick and the State was represented by Christina J. Catoe. Petitioner's Application for Post-Conviction Relief was dismissed on May 15, 2008. ROA 186.

¹ *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738, 87 S.Ct. 1396 (1967).

Petitioner appealed the denial of the Application for Post-Conviction Relief. For this appeal, Petitioner was represented by Robert Pachak. ROA 318. The Petition for Writ of Certiorari was denied on August 20, 2009. ROA 330.

On July 13, 2009, Petitioner filed a subsequent *pro se* Application for Post-Conviction Relief. ROA 331. This application, for case number 2009-CP-22-1074, for PCR was dismissed on December 30, 2009 by the Honorable Benjamin Culbertson. ROA 341. Petitioner appealed the denial of this application for PCR; however, that appeal was dismissed on March 15, 2010. ROA 357. Remittitur was sent on March 31, 2010. ROA 358.

On May 4, 2010, Petitioner filed another *pro se* Application for Post-Conviction Relief. ROA 347. On July 10, 2010, this PCR application, 2010-CP-22-733, was dismissed. ROA 355. Petitioner appealed the denial of this application for PCR; however, certiorari was denied on August 18, 2011. ROA 357. Remittitur was sent on September 7, 2011. ROA 358.

On October 25, 2011, Petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the original jurisdiction of the South Carolina Supreme Court. ROA 359-384. This Petition was denied on November 16, 2011. ROA 385.

On December 1, 2011, Petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in South Carolina District Court. ROA 202. This action was dismissed on March 20, 2013. ROA 386-424.

On May 16, 2012, Petitioner filed a *pro se* Motion for a New Trial Based on After Discovered Evidence. ROA 439-450. On July 31, 2012, this motion was denied by the Honorable Benjamin Culbertson. ROA 451-452.

Petitioner Filed a *pro se* Notice of Appeal. On September 22, 2014, Natasha Hanna filed a Notice of Appearance on the Appeal for the limited purpose of filing a Motion to Suspend the Appeal and For Leave to File a Motion for a New Trial Based on After Discovered Evidence. ROA

453-461. In an Order dated October 8, 2014, this Court denied the Petitioners Motion to Suspend Appeal and For Leave to File Motion for a New Trial Based on After Discovered Evidence noting the following:

We Note that pursuant to Rule 205, SCACR, “Nothing in these Rules shall prohibit the lower court...from proceeding with matters not affected by the appeal.”

ROA 462-463. On November 12, 2014, this Court affirmed the ruling on 2012 Motion for a New Trial Based on After Discovered Evidence. ROA 464.

On October 30, 2014, Petitioner, through his attorney Natasha Hanna, filed a Motion for a New Trial Based on After Discovered Evidence. ROA 467-470. On September 11, 2015, the Honorable Benjamin Culbertson filed a Form 4 Order denying Petitioner’s Motion for a New Trial Based on After Discovered Evidence. ROA 471. On September 22, 2015, Ms. Hanna e-mailed Judge Culbertson, asking for a hearing. Supp. ROA 42-43.

A hearing was scheduled for December 10, 2015 before the Honorable Steven John. ROA 473. At the hearing, Ms. Hanna was relieved. The Court ordered that Petitioner be evaluated for competence to represent himself. ROA 490-497.

On September 8, 2017, Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss [Petitioner’s] Motion for a New Trial Based on After Discovered Evidence. ROA 542-544. Petitioner, through counsel, submitted a Memorandum in Support of Defendant’s Motion for a New Trial Based on After Discovered Evidence. Supp. ROA 21-68.

A Hearing was convened on October 2, 2017 before the Honorable Larry B. Hyman. ROA 498. Prior to the hearing, Petitioner had requested to proceed *pro se*. however, at the hearing Petitioner indicated that he wanted an attorney and the Court did not order him to proceed *pro se*. ROA 507, l. 15—511, l. 20.

After the hearing, the Court allowed briefing on the State's motion. Supp. ROA 21-68. Petitioner also renewed his motion to allow Mr. Ward to proceed *pro se*.

In an order clocked on December 7, 2017, the circuit court granted the State's Motion to Dismiss and denied the motion to proceed *pro se*. ROA 561.

On May 19, 2021, the Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court. *State v. Ward*, (2-121-UP-184). App. 49-50. A Petition for rehearing was filed on June 1, 2021. App. 51-53. The Petition for Rehearing was denied on June 4, 2021. App. 54. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

- I. Does the “reasonable diligence” standard of Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP, require criminal defendants and their attorneys to do genealogical research on potential jurors to ensure they are not related to witnesses, and if not, did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the summary dismissal of Petitioner’s Motion for a New Trial based on after discovered evidence?

Relevant Facts

During the Petitioner’s trial, the State alleged that Petitioner shot Wilford Brown and Elton Rutledge in “a drug deal gone bad.” ROA 98, 1. 22—99, 1. 7. The State argued that on August 2, 2002, Defendant borrowed his wife’s Suzuki and meet up with Brown and Rutledge. The State alleged that Defendant then killed Brown and Rutledge with a 9mm handgun and buried their bodies. The State also alleged that Petitioner dumped the Suzuki in Dawhoo Lake in Georgetown County to destroy evidence of the shooting. ROA 98, 1. 22—130, 1. 8.

Kevin Cooper was a key witness for the State against Petitioner. ROA 83, 1. 20—96, 1. 27. Mr. Cooper claimed to have seen Petitioner with one of the decedents prior to the shooting. ROA 90, ll. 7-15. Mr. Cooper allegedly overheard a conversation where Petitioner was mad that he lost money. ROA 90, 1. 16—91, 1. 3. Mr. Cooper testified that Petitioner asked him to go buy 9mm bullets. ROA 91, ll. 3-20. This testimony ultimately would fit into the State’s theory that Mr. Ward shot the decedents with a 9mm because they owed him money. ROA 97, 1. 22—130, 1. 8.

On October 30, 2014, Petitioner, through his then attorney Natasha Hanna, filed a motion for a new trial based on after discovered evidence alleging the juror misconduct. In the motion, Petitioner alleged that Marissa Cooper, Juror 19, failed to disclose a relationship State’s witness Kevin Cooper. Supp. ROA 1-20. Juror 19 was asked along with the other jurors, whether she was related by blood or marriage to any of the potential witnesses. ROA 48, 1. 1—50, 1. 15. At no

point did Juror 19 respond to that she was related to Kevin Cooper. ROA 50, l. 15. However, Petitioner submitted an affidavit which supported his position that Juror 19 was related to Kevin Cooper. Supp. ROA 63-64. Petitioner alleged Juror 19 intentionally concealed this information. Supp. ROA 3.

On September 8, 2017, the State filed a motion to summarily dismiss, Defendant's motion for a new trial based on after discovered evidence. In that motion, the State argued that Petitioner's 2014 motion was filed in violation of Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP because Petitioner had an appeal pending on a different Motion for a New Trial Based on After Discovered Evidence.² The State also argued that "the information cited by [Petitioner] was known to [Petitioner] and counsel or could have been ascertained by the exercise of reasonable diligence prior to and at the time of trial in 2004..." ROA 543.

On October 2, 2017, hearing was convened before circuit court. The State argued that the relationship between Juror 19 and Mr. Cooper could have been known by Petitioner at the time of trial. ROA 519, l. 13—520, l. 19. However, the State also took the position that Juror 19 and Mr. Cooper's relationship was so distant as not to arise to the level of juror misconduct. ROA 520, l. 20—521, l. 8.

In it order granting summary dismissal, the circuit court found the following:

The Claim before the Court must be reviewed under the standard set forth in *State v. Spann*, 334 S.C. 618 (1999)...The Court finds the information

² This motion was filed while Petitioner had an appeal pending from a previous unrelated motion for a new trial based on after discovered evidence. Appellate Case 2012-213222 concerns allegations of newly discovered evidence involving allegations that an individual named Michael Abner hired the two decedents to kill Defendant. ROA 427-438. Although Defendant's motion to suspend the appeal was denied by the Court of Appeals, the order denying the motion to suspend the appeal indicated "Nothing in this order shall prohibit the lower court...from proceeding with matters not affected by this appeal." Since the subject matter of 2014 Motion does not deal with the same matters alleged in Appellate Case 2012-213222, the 2014 Motion was properly filed.

cited by the [Petitioner] in the current motion, even if true, is not material evidence as to [Petitioner's] guilt or innocence and would not change the result if a new trial were granted.

ROA 563. The circuit court also found that Petitioner could have ascertained the relationship based on the exercise of reasonable diligence. The circuit granted State's motion to summarily³ dismiss Petitioner's Motion for a New Trial Based on After Discovered Evidence.

Argument

This Court has found that juror misconduct is not based on the factors listed in *Spann*⁴ but rather "is governed by a separate standard." *McCoy v. State*, 401 S.C. 363, 371, 737 S.E.2d 623, 627, (2013). "[A] new trial is warranted on the basis of juror misconduct if it is shown that (1) the juror intentionally concealed information; and (2) the information concealed would have supported a challenge for cause or would have been a material factor in the use of the party's peremptory challenges." *Id.* "[E]valuating the merits of a juror misconduct claim is a fact-intensive inquiry, which is most appropriately conducted after a hearing." *Id.*, 401 S.C. at 371, 737 S.E.2d at 628.

The Court of Appeals erred in finding that the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion by holding that "reasonable diligence" would have lead Petitioner to discover that Juror 19 and witness Cooper were related due to the fact that their last name is Cooper.

The Circuit Court found that Petitioner could have discovered this relationship between Juror Cooper and Witness Cooper at the time of the trial through "reasonable diligence." The Court of Appeals found the following:

The State provided Ward with a list of potential witnesses during voir dire in March 2004. At that time, the relationship between the juror and the witness

³ Although in the order the circuit court writes "[A]s to the merits of the [Petitioner's] motion..." Petitioner was not allowed to call witnesses to address the merits of his motion. R*(Tr. 14, l. 21—15, l. 8). Therefore, this matter was summarily dismissed.

⁴ *State v. Spann*, 334 S.C. 618, 513 S.E.2d 98 (1999).

could have been ascertained by the exercise of reasonable diligence.

App. 50.

The standard of reasonable diligence requires a person to act after they are put on notice that they should act. *See Maher v. Tietex Corp.*, 331 S.C. 371, 377, 500 S.E.2d 204, 207 (Ct. App. 1998) (“A cause of action should have been discovered through exercise of reasonable diligence when the facts and circumstances would have put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some right had been invaded or a claim against another party might exist.”). The reasonable diligence standard should not be seen as requiring a defendant or defense counsel to be perfect. *See Crosby v. State*, 241 S.C. 40, 44, 126 S.E.2d 843, 845 (1962) (“The effective representation by counsel guaranteed by due process of law does not mean perfection on the part of an attorney”); *see also, Holland v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 631, 653, 130 S. Ct. 2549, 2565 (2010) (“The diligence required for equitable tolling purposes is ‘reasonable diligence’, not ‘maximum feasible diligence,’” (internal citation omitted)).

A juror and a witness both having the last name “Cooper”⁵ is not sufficient to put Petitioner on notice that the two were related. To require defendants and defense counsel to do genealogical research on prospective jurors and witnesses is far greater than what should be considered reasonable diligence. *Cf. Cannedy v. Adams*, 706 F.3d 1148, 1169 (9th Cir. 2013) (“A lawyer cannot be deemed to have rendered ineffective assistance for failing to discover a witness whose identity, location, or observations he does not know anything about. Lawyers are not omniscient.”).

⁵ According to the 2010 United States Census there are 280,791 Coopers in the country. Cooper is the 70th most common surname in the United States. *See Frequently Occurring Surnames from the 2010 Census* United States Census Bureau (available at https://www.census.gov/topics/population/genealogy/data/2010_surnames.html).

The Circuit Court and the Court of Appeals have put forth an impossible standard for criminal defendants and their attorneys. The Court of Appeal's standard is closer to perfection than it is to Defendants are expected to search every witness family history for potential jurors with the same last names. This Court should grant certiorari to correct this unreasonable ruling.

The Circuit Court abused its discretion in summarily dismissing Petitioner's Rule 29(B) motion because it was not filed as a PCR case.

This Court has found that juror misconduct is not based on the factors listed in *Spann*⁶ but rather "is governed by a separate standard." *McCoy v. State*, 401 S.C. 363, 371, 737 S.E.2d 623, 627, (2013). "[A] new trial is warranted on the basis of juror misconduct if it is shown that (1) the juror intentionally concealed information; and (2) the information concealed would have supported a challenge for cause or would have been a material factor in the use of the party's peremptory challenges." *Id.* "[E]valuating the merits of a juror misconduct claim is a fact-intensive inquiry, which is most appropriately conducted after a hearing." *Id.*, 401 S.C. at 371, 737 S.E.2d at 628.

The circuit court applied the wrong standard in assessing whether to summarily dismiss Petitioner's 2014 motion for a new trial. In its order of dismiss the circuit court found the following:

Had a juror misconduct claim been captioned as yet another PCR application, the Supreme Court's more recent holding in *McCoy v. State*, 401 S.C. 363 (2013) may have applied and an evidentiary hearing on the claim applying the analysis set forth in *State v. Woods*, 345 S.C. 583 (2001) possible. However, that is of no import in the present matter.

ROA 562-563. However, *Woods* was properly brought in a motion for a new trial. *State v. Woods*, 345 S.C. 583, 550 S.E.2d 282 (2001). Additionally, there are other cases where this issue was raised in a motion for a new trial. *See e.g. State v. Savage*, 306 S.C. 5, 409 S.E.2d 809 (1991); *State v. Sparkman*, 358 S.C. 491, 596 S.E.2d 375 (2004). This ruling is an abuse of discretion because it was

based on an error of law.

The Circuit Court abused its discretion in summarily finding that Petitioner was not prejudiced by the juror misconduct without a hearing on the matter.

The circuit court erred in summarily ruling that even if Juror 19 was related to Kevin Cooper it “would not change the result if a new trial were granted.” ROA 563. To the extent a harmless error analysis is proper in a case of juror misconduct, the harmless error analysis should only be made after a hearing. *See Remmer v. United States*, 347 U.S. 227, 230, 74 S.Ct. 450, 451-452 (1954) (“We therefore vacate the judgment of the Court of Appeals and remand the case to the District Court with directions to hold a hearing to determine whether the incident complained of was harmful to the petitioner, and if after hearing it is found to have been harmful, to grant a new trial.”) Therefore, the circuit court erred by holding that Petitioner was not entitled to a hearing on his motion because he had not filed it as a PCR action.

Therefore, the circuit court erred in summarily dismissing Petitioner’s motion for a new trial and this matter should be remanded for an evidentiary hearing.

⁶ *State v. Spann*, 334 S.C. 618, 513 S.E.2d 98 (1999).

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court remand the case for a hearing on the Motion for a New Trial Based on After Discovered Evidence.