**RECEIVED**

**Jun 03 2022**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court**

---

**Certiorari to the Court of Appeals  
Appeal from Georgetown County  
The Honorable Larry Hyman, Circuit Court Judge**

---

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,**

**Respondent,**

**v.**

**JODY L. WARD,**

**Petitioner.**

**Appellate Case No. 2021-000702**

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General**

**DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General**

**MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General**

**J. ANTHONY MABRY  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
State Bar No. 11973  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305**

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

[n. 1 We decide this case without oral argument pursuant to Rule 215, SCACR]

Ward, *supra*. (App. 49-50). Ward's petition for rehearing was also denied. (App. 54). This Court granted certiorari to review the Court of Appeals Opinion immediately above.

The Court of Appeals should be affirmed because the Court of Appeals did not err. The Rule 29 motion was untimely. Further, even if this Court were to conduct a merits determination, Ward's Rule 29 motion has no merit.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

"The decision whether to grant a new trial rests within the sound discretion of the trial court, and this Court will not disturb the trial court's decision absent an abuse of discretion." State v. Mercer, 381 S.C. 149, 166, 672 S.E.2d 556, 565 (2009). This deferential standard of review constrains this Court "to affirm the trial court if reasonably supported by the evidence." *Id.* at 167, 672 S.E.2d at 565; State v. Harris, 391 S.C. 539, 545, 706 S.E.2d 526, 529 (Ct. App. 2011).

"The granting of a new trial because of after-discovered evidence is not favored," and this Court will affirm the trial court's denial of such a motion unless the trial court abused its discretion. State v. Irvin, 270 S.C. 539, 545, 243 S.E.2d 195, 197-98 (1978); Harris, *supra*. As this Court held in State v. Rhodes, 44 S.C. 325, 327, 21 S.E. 807 (1895):

We, however avail ourselves of this opportunity to say that the universally recognized doctrine is that applications of this kind should be scrutinized with great

caution, in order to avoid delays, and prevent any obstructions to the administration of justice. As was said by the late Chief Justice Simpson in the case of State v. David, 14 S.C. 428, 432 (1881), “There can be no doubt that motions of this sort should be received with the utmost caution, because, as it is said by a learned judge, there are but few cases tried in which something new may not be hunted up, and also because it tends to perjury; and as was said in the case of State v. Harding, 2 S.C.L. 267, 268 (S.C. Const. App. 1800), it would have a mischievous tendency after all the evidence on the part of the state had been fully disclosed, to allow one with his life in danger, an opportunity, by the assistance of confederates, to procure unprincipled witnesses to contradict the evidence on the part of the state, and thereby defeat the ends of justice”

Rhodes, 44 S.C. at 327, 21 S.E. 807.

A motion for a new trial based on after discovered evidence of juror concealment or misconduct is also disfavored and carefully scrutinized; and, affidavits attacking the integrity of a juror should be received with caution, deliberation, and circumspection. State v. Kennedy, 177 S.C. 195, 207, 181, S.E.35, 40 (1935).

*As the Court of Appeals found, the Rule 29(b) Motion is untimely and even under a merits review by this Court under the appropriate standard there is no merit to the Rule 29(b) Motion*

Here, as Judge Hyman noted, Ward raised this claim in a Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP Motion for a New Trial based on after-discovered evidence filed in the Court of General Sessions. When a Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP motion is filed in General Sessions the timing provisions of Rule 29(b) apply. Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP. See State v. Woods, 345 S.C. 583, 587-89, 550 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001). Here, in the present case, the motion was clearly untimely, **a decade after trial**.

This Court should affirm the Court of Appeals because the Court of Appeals only found below that the motion was untimely under Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP, which is correct. State v. Ward, 2021-UP-184 (Ct. App. May 19, 2021)(Unpublished). The Court of Appeals did not find or even

discuss whether the McCoy/Woods<sup>7</sup> factors or Spann/Clark<sup>8</sup> factors were applicable in this situation because it did not reach that point; it simply found the motion was untimely under Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP, given the allegations of this Motion and the affidavits submitted by Ward. Ward, supra. That determination is supported by the record.

***The Court of Appeals appropriately applied a reasonable or due diligence standard on Ward***

In his Brief, Ward first alleges Judge Hyman and the Court of Appeals imposed an improper requirement into Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP on defendants to conduct a genogram on prospective jurors. Ward is wrong. Neither the Court of Appeals nor Judge Hyman imposed such a requirement on Ward. The only requirement the Court of Appeals or Judge Hyman imposed on Ward is the same requirement that has always been present in a Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence filed in General Sessions Court, reasonable or due diligence. Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP; **Kennedy, 177 S.C. 195, 181 S.E. 35** (motion for a new trial based upon after discovered evidence of juror concealment or misconduct was properly denied on two (2) grounds: (1) there was nothing in defendant's affidavit to show the information relied upon for a new trial, a statement of a juror pre-trial, could not have been obtained by due diligence *long before the defendant's conviction was affirmed*, or even during trial; and (2) such allegations of juror misconduct should be carefully scrutinized); **State v. Meehan, 160 S.C. 111, 158 S.E.151 (1931)**(motion for new trial based upon after discovered evidence of juror concealment or misconduct denied where there was nothing in defendant's affidavits to show the statement alleged in the affidavits made by the juror could not have been obtained with due diligence beforehand).

---

<sup>7</sup> McCoy v. State, 401 S.C. 363, 371, 737 S.E.2d 623 (2013); State v. Woods, 345 S.C. 583, 587-89, 550 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001).

<sup>8</sup> State v. Spann, 334 S.C. 618, 513 S.E.2d 98 (1999); Clark v. State, 315 S.C. 385, 434 S.E.2d 266 (1993).

Ward also alleges Judge Hyman erroneously and summarily dismissed his motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence because the Court did not take testimony on the issue of Juror 19's alleged familial connection to witness Kevin Cooper. Rule 29, SCRCrimP provides that a post-trial motion made in the Court of General Sessions pursuant to Rule 29, SCRCrimP, "may, in the discretion of the court, be determined on briefs filed by the parties without oral argument." Rule 29(a), SCRCrimP. However, here, **after a scheduled hearing on the motion three (3) years after the motion was filed**, and oral argument, and post-hearing briefing, Judge Hyman denied Ward's motion on the basis it was not timely made and the alleged after-discovered evidence was "not new 'evidence'":

The Court heard oral arguments and reviewed the filings including supporting documents submitted by the parties on the remaining two pending motions. Initially, the Court finds that the Defendant filed this motion in violation of the limitations contained in SCRCrimP Rule 29(b). . . .

The Court finds the information cited by the Defendant in the current motion, even if true, is not material evidence as to this Defendant's guilt or innocence and would not change the result if a new trial were granted.

The alleged new evidence cited in the Defendant's motion was known to the defendant and counsel or could have been ascertained by the exercise of reasonable diligence prior to and at the time of trial in 2004 and certainly within one year after conviction. The claims are based on common last names with extended family relatives or based on personal relationships with named individuals the Defendant or Defendant's family knew personally prior to trial. Juror background information and the State's witness list was provided to the Defense during *voir dire* which occurred prior to jury selection. That information continued to remain unchanged and available for one year after conviction and is not new "evidence" as to the defendant's guilt.

(R. 561-64).<sup>9</sup> The Court of Appeals appropriately affirmed *based on the untimeliness of the*

---

<sup>9</sup> Judge Hyman also ruled the motion was improperly filed during the pendency of the appeal from his initial [1<sup>st</sup>] Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP motion because the Court of Appeals denied the motion to stay that appeal. (R. 562). See Rule 224, SCACR; State v. Mercer, 381 S.C. 149, 672 S.E.2d 556 (2009). Petitioner does not mention this ruling by Judge Hyman or other contemporaneous rulings in the instant action and that conclusion is not before this Court for review. See State v. Lindsey,

*motion* under Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP. State v. Ward, 2021-UP-184 (Ct. App. May 19, 2021)(Unpublished). Therefore, this Court should affirm the Court of Appeals. Id.

While the underlying claim can be classified as one of juror misconduct due to Juror 19's *alleged* concealment of a relationship through marriage to an alleged extended family member of her husband, witness Kevin Cooper, the allegation found its way before the court pursuant to a Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP motion for new trial based on after-discovered evidence and was appropriately dismissed based upon procedural constraints appearing within and arising out of Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP. This Court will not ignore the timeliness rule of Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP simply because the alleged newly discovered evidence is one of juror misconduct or concealment. Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP; Kennedy, 177 S.C. 195, 181 S.E. 35.

Further, the record shows the hearing before Judge Hyman was on **Ward's Motion for a New Trial based on after-discovered evidence and on the State's Motion to Dismiss.** (R. 498-541).<sup>10</sup> Ward was aware the hearing was going to take place, and he did not subpoena or call any witness at the hearing, nor did he introduce any other affidavits than the two (2) submitted by Nicole *Ward*, **even though it had been approximately three (3) years since the Rule 29(b) motion was filed.** See Smith v. Phillips, 455 U.S. 209 (1982)(in cases where juror impartiality is

---

394 S.C. 354, 714 S.E.2d 554 (Ct. App. 2011) (argument abandoned on appeal if not briefed); State v. Dicapua, 373 S.C. 452, 455, 646 S.E.2d 150, 152 (Ct. App. 2007) (defendant's statement he had no objection to entry of evidentiary item "amounted to a waiver of any issue"). Instead, Ward argues his 2<sup>nd</sup> Rule 29 motion was timely because the Court of Appeals in its Order denying the Stay request permitted the circuit court to consider any other motion not related to the appeal. (See BOA).

<sup>10</sup> At the hearing, the State argued both the merits of Ward's Rule 29(b) Motion and its' Motion to Dismiss the Rule 29(b) Motion. Ward's counsel argued he was at the hearing to address several things including a request for, and to flesh out how and when, an evidentiary hearing would be held. He also argued against the Motion to Dismiss. Judge Hyman eventually stated on the record, after much argument, he considered both the Rule 29(b) Motion and the Motion to Dismiss part of a hearing on the merits. He asked both parties to brief the issue of whether the Rule 29(b) Motion should be dismissed, and then he would schedule another hearing if necessary. (R. 498-541).

questioned after trial, it is appropriate to conduct a hearing in which the defendant *has the opportunity* to prove actual juror bias; such a hearing satisfies due process); *see Remmer v. United States*, 347 U.S. 227 (1954);<sup>11</sup> *State v. Bryant*, 354 S.C. 390, 581 S.E.2d 157 (2003); *McCoy v. State*, 401 S.C. 363, 371, 737 S.E.2d 623, 628 (2013)(“Further, evaluating the merits of a juror misconduct claim is a fact-intensive inquiry, which is most appropriately conducted after a hearing.”). Appellant Ward had a hearing on his motion, he simply failed to meet his burden of proof to show juror misconduct at that hearing. *McCoy, supra; Woods, supra.*

As a result, there is no merit to this argument. While “[n]othing required the trial court or a party to hail a juror into court to testify on the issue of juror misconduct *under the circumstances presented here* [.],” *State v. Rowell*, \_\_\_ S.C. \_\_\_, 870 S.E.2d 175 (Ct. App. 2022)(emphasis added), Ward was aware of the hearing and could have subpoenaed or called the juror, her husband, the State’s witness Kevin Cooper, his affiant Nicole Ward, or any other witness, or obtained an affidavit from them on this issue to prove juror misconduct, i.e. intentional concealment of an alleged marital relation by the 6<sup>th</sup> degree of consanguinity, and he failed to do so. *See S.C. Code Ann.* Section 19-7-60 (providing criminal defendants have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses to testify in their favor); *State v. Lyles*, 379 S.C. 328, 341, 665 S.E.2d 201, 208 (Ct. App. 2008)(providing Section 19-7-60 “allow[s] criminal defendants to compel witnesses to appear in their favor and to produce witnesses and evidence at trial.”); *State v. Tyndall*, 336 S.C. 8, 17, 518 S.E.2d 278, 283 (Ct. App. 1999)(“An appellant has a duty to provide this [c]ourt with a record sufficient for review of the issues on appeal.”); *State v. Aldret*, 333 S.C. 307, 315, 509 S.E.2d 811, 815 (1999)(holding the trial court may, in its discretion, consider juror affidavits on

---

<sup>11</sup> *Remmer* found a presumption of prejudice when a juror was contacted in an attempt to bribe the juror. This Court found in *State v. Green*, 432 S.C. 97, 851 S.E.2d 440 (2020) there was no presumption of prejudice simply because a juror has contact with court personnel such as a bailiff.

the issue of premature jury deliberations and if the trial court finds the affidavits credible and indicative of misconduct it should hold an evidentiary hearing to assess whether such deliberations occurred); Lynch v. Carolina Self Storage Ctrs. Inc., 409 S.C. 146, 159 n. 2, 760 S.E.2d 111m 119 n. 2 (Ct. App. 2014)(noting “ a trial court is not obligated to take juror testimony when the court determines it can rule” on the misconduct issue without it); Id. at 155, 760 S.E.2d at 116 (stating “[i]f the court finds no intentional concealment occurred the inquiry ends there”). Instead, Ward relied only on the two (2) affidavits of Nicole Ward that did not prove intentional concealment at all. Nicole Ward did not even state her relation to Appellant Ward or why Appellant Ward did not learn this information from her sooner. Even if Judge Hyman accepted the affidavits of Nichole Ward as true, that does not mean the Juror knew the witness at issue, Kevin Cooper, or that the Juror knew that her husband was related to the witness through her husband’s grandfather’s brother’s descendant.

- A. Juror 19’s alleged relation to one of the State’s witnesses (second cousins through marriage) could have been discovered within one (1) year of trial with exercise of reasonable diligence because any potential relation was provided to the defense prior to jury selection and was likewise available to Ward within one (1) year of trial.

Foremost to the consideration of a Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP motion is its timing. “A motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence must be made within one [1] year after the date of actual discovery of the evidence by the defendant or after the date when the evidence could have been ascertained by the exercise of reasonable diligence.” Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP. This is true regardless of whether the claim raised is one of juror misconduct or some other issue. Id.

Ward stood trial in March 2004. (R. 2). As represented by the State during the motion hearing, Ward was provided the State’s witness list and background information on the potential jurors during voir dire. (R. 520). Ward does not contest the availability of that information, only the reasonableness of its discovery. (R. 528). However, as pointed out by Judge Hyman, Juror 19

and the State's witness, Kevin Cooper, share a last name and hail from Georgetown County. (R. 3, 83-84, 529). Ward and his affiant Nicole Ward share the same last name.<sup>12</sup>

Thus, to the extent the Circuit Court distinguished McCoy, a PCR action, from Ward's case it is irrelevant because the Rule 29 motion was **untimely**. (R. 562-63). As the Court of Appeals correctly found, Judge Hyman appropriately denied the Rule 29(b) motion, ten (10) years later, and granted the motion to dismiss because the information forming the basis for the allegation in the Rule 29(b) motion was previously available to Ward and could have been discovered and raised within the time limit delineated within Rule 29(b) SCRCrimP. See State v. Allen, 276 S.C. 412, 414, 279 S.E.2d 365, 366-67 (1981) ("Here, Ballard's federal conviction was a matter of public record. It was available to the respondent and his counsel through due diligence and did not constitute after-discovered evidence."); see Hassell v. City of Columbia, 430 S.C. 620, 629, 846 S.E.2d 373, 378 (Ct. App. 2020)("The City did not provide any affidavits or other evidence to show it did not or could not have known of the information prior to the verdict or within the time frame for post-trial motions"). The Court of Appeals appropriately affirmed the dismissal of this Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP motion because it was untimely under Rule 29(b). Ward, *supra* (Unpublished). This Court should affirm the Court of Appeals because it did not err.

Also, here the affidavit(s) on which *Ward* relies are from Nicole *Ward*, who has the same last name as Appellant, and who admits she is related to the State's witness and Juror 19 by marriage. And, Appellant Ward *knew* the State's witness Kevin Cooper as well, as testified to at trial by the State's witness Kevin Cooper. (App. 452-65). So, Ward could have discovered any

---

<sup>12</sup> It is important to note here that Ward's affiant Nicole Ward *does not disclose* what if any relation she has to Appellant Ward in either her first or second affidavit. Respondent submits Ward could have talked to his affiant Nicole Ward prior to trial or at any time prior to the signing of her first affidavit some nine (9) years after his trial.

relation between Juror 19 and the State's witness, if any, prior to jury selection or **at least within one (1) year after his conviction and long before 2014, a decade after trial.** Kennedy, supra.

For the same reason, it was unnecessary to apply the substantive legal standard pertaining to claims of juror misconduct. Because "juror misconduct is a separate basis for a new trial, it is governed by a separate standard." McCoy, 401 S.C. at 371, 737 S.E.2d at 627. "**Provided a claim is timely raised,**" a defendant may garner a new trial "on the basis of juror misconduct if it is shown that (1) the juror intentionally concealed information; and (2) the information concealed would have supported a challenge for cause or would have been a material factor in the use of the party's peremptory challenges." Id. (emphasos added) (citing State v. Woods, 345 S.C. 583, 587-89, 550 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001)). As discussed, Ward's claim was untimely pursuant to Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP. It was then unnecessary for the Circuit Court to proceed to the merits of the motion as it pertained to Juror's 19's *alleged* concealment. It was unnecessary for the Court of Appeals to reach the merits of the motion. This Court should affirm the denial of Ward's 29(b) motion by the Court of Appeals, because, the Rule 29(b) Motion was untimely. Ward, supra; Rule 220(c), SCACR; I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 419, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000) (on appeal, a respondent may raise on appeal any additional reason the appellate court should affirm, regardless of whether the lower court ruled upon that reason).

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